IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

S.CT. NO. 20-1300

MYRANDA MARIE RINCON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE SAMANTHA GRONEWALD, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

RACHEL C. REGENOLD
Assistant Appellate Defender
rregenold@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@state.ia.us

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. The State must provide an exception to the warrant requirement to justify the warrantless search of an individual's effects. Rincon was the passenger in a vehicle who exited with her backpack when the driver was detained because the vehicle was stolen. Officers observed drugs and an open container in plain view on the driver's side. Do plain view, search incident to arrest, or the automobile exception justify the warrantless search of Rincon's backpack?

Authorities

State v. Breuer, 577 N.W.2d 41, 44 (Iowa 1998)

Johnson Equip. Corp. v. Indus. Indem., 489 N.W.2d 13 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Hoskins, 711 N.W.2d 720, 725 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601, 606 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Howard, 509 N.W.2d 764, 767 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Lane, 726 N.W.2d 371, 377 (Iowa 2007)

A. Rincon has standing to challenge the warrantless search of her backpack.

U.S. Const. amend. IV

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 8

State v. Lewis, 675 N.W.2d 516, 522-23 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Lovig, 675 N.W.2d 557, 562 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Pettijohn, 899 N.W.2d 1, 19 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260, 267 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Pals, 805 N.W.2d 767 (2011)

State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785, 820-23 (Iowa 2013)

Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 140 (1978)

State v. Halliburton, 539 N.W.2d 339, 341-42 (Iowa 1995)

Albert W. Alschuler, Interpersonal Privacy and the Fourth Amendment, 4 Northern Ill. Univ. L. Rev. 1, 12 (1983)

Bond v. United States, 529 U.S. 334, 338 (2000)

United States v. Chadwick, 433 U.S. 1, 13 (1977)

Wyoming v. Houghton, 526 U.S. 295 (1999) (No. 98-184), https://www.supremecourt.gov/pdfs/transcripts/1998/98-184_01-12-1999.pdf

State v. Arellano, No. 14, 0051, 2015 WL 1054978, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. March 11, 2015)

B. No exception to the warrant requirement justified the warrantless search of Rincon's backpack.

Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 338 (2009)

State v. McGrane, 733 N.W.2d 671, 676 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277, 282 (Iowa 2000), overruled on other grounds by State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601, 611 n.2 (Iowa 2001)

1. The plain-view exception only justified the seizure of contraband found in plain view in the Malibu, not the warrantless search of Rincon's backpack.

State v. Oliver, 341 N.W.2d 744, 745-46 (Iowa 1983)

Horton v. California, 496 U.S. 128, 133 (1990)

Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 466 (1971)

State v. Cullor, 315 N.W.2d 808, 811 (Iowa 1982)

2. The district court correctly found the Des Moines Police lacked probable cause to justify a warrantless search of Rincon's backpack.

State v. Lewis, 675 N.W.2d 516, 522 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101, 107-08 (Iowa 2001)

Maryland v. Pringle, 540 U.S. 366, 370-71 (2003)

State v. Cashen, 666 N.W.2d 566, 569 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Reed, 875 N.W.2d 693, 705 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Ceron, 573 N.W.2d 587, 588, 593 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Horton, 625 N.W.2d 362, 367 (Iowa 2001)

United States v. Di Re, 332 U.S. 581, 583 (1948)

3. The district court properly ruled that the search of Rincon's backpack was not a valid search incident to arrest (SITA).

State v. Freeman, 705 N.W.2d 293, 298 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Ceron, 573 N.W.2d 587, 589 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Bradford, 620 N.W.2d 503, 508 (Iowa 2000)

United States v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218, 235 (1973)

State v. Horton, 625 N.W.2d 362, 364 (Iowa 2001)

Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448 U.S. 98, 111 (1980)

Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752, 762-63 (1969)

State v. McGrane, 733 N.W.2d 671, 676 (Iowa 2007)

Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 338 (2009)

United States v. Knapp, 917 F.3d 1161, 1168-69 (10th Cir. 2019)

United States v. Cook, 808 F.3d 1195, 1199-00 (9th Cir. 2015)

4. The automobile exception does not apply to the search of Rincon's backpack.

No Authorities

a. Rincon did not have a reduced expectation of privacy in her backpack because it was outside the vehicle.

Wyoming v. Houghton, 526 U.S. 295, 303 (1999)

Tracey Maclin, Cops and Cars: How the Automobile Drove Fourth Amendment Law, 99 Boston Univ. L. Rev. 2317, 2354-55 (2019)

3 Wayne R. LaFare, Search and Seizure: A Treatise on the Fourth Amendment § 7.2(d) (6th ed. Sept. 2020 Update)

United States v. Chadwick, 433 U.S. 1, 13 (1977)

Arkansas v. Sanders, 442 U.S. 753 (1979)

California v. Acevedo, 500 U.S. 565 (1991)

United States v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798, 812 (1982)

b. The automobile exception only applies to containers and effects inside the automobile.

Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132, 153 (1925)

Chambers v. Maroney, 399 U.S. 42, 47-48 (1970)

State v. Storm, 898 N.W.2d 140, 146 (Iowa 2017)

Maryland v. Dyson, 527 U.S. 465, 466 (1999)

United States v. Di Re, 332 U.S. 581, 587 (1948)

Wyoming v. Houghton, 526 U.S. 295, 303 (1999)

3 Wayne R. LaFare, Search and Seizure: A Treatise on the Fourth Amendment § 7.2(d) (6th ed. Sept. 2020 Update)

United States v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798, 799-00 (1982)

State v. Boyd, 64 P.3d 419, 427 (Kan. 2003)

Antonin Scalia and Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 54, 69 (Thompson/West 2012)

Inside, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/inside>

Within, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/within>

James L. Buchwalter, Annotation, Application of Fourth Amendment to Automobile Searches—Supreme Court Cases, 47 A.L.R. Fed. 2d 197, §§ 19-20 (2010)

State v. Lewis, 611 A.2d 69 (Maine 1992)

State v. Eubanks, 355 N.W.2d 57 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Warren, No.19-0267, ___ N.W.2d ___, 2021 WL 833551, at *12 (Iowa Mar. 5, 2021)

California v. Acevedo, 500 U.S. 565, 580 (1991)

Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752, 768 (1969)

Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 343 (2009)

State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1, 13 (Iowa 2015)

Tracey Maclin, Cops and Cars: How the Automobile Drove Fourth Amendment Law, 99 Boston Univ. L. Rev. 2317, 2346-49 (2019)

Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806 (1996)

Carol A. Chase, Privacy Takes a Back Seat: Putting the Automobile Exception Back on Track After Several Wrong Turns, 41 Boston College L. Rev. 71, 93-4 (Dec. 1999)

Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 433, 461-2 (1971)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues raised involve substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(f). Does the automobile exception to the warrant requirement allow law enforcement to search a passenger's backpack when she exited the vehicle with it? In Wyoming v. Houghton, the Court held that "[P]olice officers with probable cause to search a car may inspect passengers' belongings found *in the car* that are capable of concealing the object of the search." 526 U.S. 295, 307 (1999) (emphasis added). Prior to Houghton, this Court held that the automobile exception justified the search of the driver's purse even though she exited the vehicle with her purse in hand. State v. Eubanks, 355 N.W.2d 57, 60 (Iowa 1984). Other state courts have interpreted the automobile exception differently. Compare State v. Eubanks, 355 N.W.2d 57 (Iowa 1984) with State v. Boyd, 64 P.3d 419, 427 (Kan. 2003) (holding a search

of the passenger's purse violated the Fourth Amendment when she attempted to exit the vehicle with it but was ordered to leave it in the vehicle by law enforcement), and State v. Lewis, 611 A.2d 69, 71 (Maine 1992) (holding the automobile exception did not apply to a search of brown bags within the driver's carry-on that had been removed from the vehicle). The Court's interpretation of the automobile exception in Eubanks requires another look.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by Defendant-Appellant Myranda Rincon from the judgment, conviction, and sentence for Possession of Marijuana as a second or subsequent offense, an aggravated misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5) (2019), following a stipulated trial on the minutes in Polk County District Court.

Course of Proceedings: The State charged Rincon with two counts of Possession of a Controlled Substance as a second or subsequent offense, an aggravated misdemeanor, in

violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5) (2019). (Information 2/3/20) (App. pp. 10-12). One count was for marijuana and another count was for methamphetamine. (Information 2/3/20) (App. pp. 10-12).

Rincon entered a plea of not guilty at arraignment. (Arraignment Order 2/13/20) (App. pp. 13-15). Her attorney filed a motion to suppress the evidence on March 26, 2020. (MTS) (App. pp. 16-17). The State filed a resistance on March 30, 2020, and the defense filed a brief in support of its motion the following day. (MTS Resistance; MTS Brief) (App. pp. 18-33).

A hearing was held on the motion to suppress on April 7, 2020. (MTS Tr. p.1 L.1-25). The parties did not make arguments or offer testimony; instead, both parties offered exhibits, which included body camera and dashboard camera footage. (MTS Tr. p.3 L.1-p.7 L.4).

The district court issued a ruling on April 15, 2020, granting Rincon's motion to suppress. (Ruling 4/15/20) (App.

pp. 34-39). The State filed a motion to reconsider on April 15, 2020, which the defense resisted the same day.

(Reconsideration Motion; Resistance to Reconsideration) (App. pp. 40-44).

A hearing was held on the motion to reconsider on April 29, 2020. (Reconsideration Tr. p.1 L.1-25). The district court granted the State's motion to reconsider, thereby denying Rincon's motion to suppress, on June 16, 2020. (Ruling 6/16/20) (App. pp. 45-48).

Rincon waived a jury trial and stipulated to a prior offense and a trial on the minutes. (Waiver 8/24/20; Stipulation 8/31/20) (App. pp. 49-52). The district court found Rincon guilty of possessing a controlled substance as a second or subsequent offender. (Findings 9/25/20) (App. pp. 53-56). Rincon was given a suspended sentence and probation on October 8, 2020. (Judgment) (App. pp. 57-60). She filed a timely notice of appeal the same day. (Notice) (App. p. 61).

Facts: Myranda Rincon was the front seat passenger of a gray Chevrolet Malibu driven by Clifton Melton on December 24, 2019. (Minutes, pp.1-2) (Conf. App. pp. 4-5). Lorena Martinez, Antonio Villa Magana, and Robert Meadows, Jr. were seated in the backseat. (Minutes, p.2) (Conf. App. p. 5). At approximately 2:45 a.m. Des Moines Police Department Officer Cole Johnson observed the Chevrolet Malibu parked in front of an apartment complex at 3519 University Avenue. Johnson ran the plate as he passed by, paused to speak to officers in another vehicle, and then turned around when the Malibu came back as stolen. (Minutes, p.1) (Conf. App. p. 4).

A man in a hooded sweatshirt, later identified as Clifton Melton, had been at the apartment complex door and was approaching the driver's side of the Malibu when Johnson pulled up behind the car. When asked, Melton denied the car was his, saying it belonged to his "homegirl," and pointing toward the apartment building. (Exh. A 00:00:55) (Minutes, p.1) (Conf. App. p. 4). Johnson handcuffed Melton and told

him he was being detained. When Melton asked what he'd done, Johnson said, "We'll get to that." Officer Jordan Ulin patted Melton down and placed him in the back of the patrol car as Johnson approached the Malibu. Johnson shone a flashlight into the car and observed four passengers and an open container of alcohol on the driver's seat. (Exh. A 00:01:20).

Johnson called in the stop, then opened the driver's door, turned off the vehicle, and tossed the keys on the dash. Rincon informed him that she just got picked up at a friend's house and was going home. "We're not being detained, are we?" she asked. Johnson informed the passengers that the vehicle was stolen and they were all being detained. He then asked for everyone's identification. Rincon informed him that she never would've gotten into the car if she'd known it was stolen because she'd just gotten out of jail. She provided him with her identifying information since she didn't have ID. (Exh. A 00:02:13).

Ulin spoke with Meadows at the rear passenger side door as Johnson opened the rear driver's side door to talk with Martinez. The vehicle occupants grumbled in response to the requests for identification, asserting that they knew their rights. Spying an open container in Villa Magana's hand, Johnson said he could take them all to jail for open containers. "We're trying to be cool, man, but you guys are giving us a reason not to be," Johnson told them. (Exh. A 00:04:14). When asked if there was anything else the officers needed to know about in the car, the passengers said no. (Exh. A 00:05:12).

One of the male passengers asked if they could get out of the car. Johnson said yes. (Exh. A 00:05:55). Ulin told Meadows to step out and face the car. (Exh. A 00:06:20). Meanwhile, Officers Ryan Steinkamp and Brian Minnehan arrived on scene. Steinkamp approached the passenger side of the vehicle, where Ulin was talking with Meadows by the rear passenger door. Rincon had exited the front passenger

seat with her backpack and was talking on the phone.

Steinkamp ordered, “Ma’am—ma’am! Get off the phone! Put yourself back in the car!” (Exh. B 00:01:30).

Rincon said she thought she was told she could get out. Ulin told her he meant the rear seat passenger. Rincon picked up her backpack as she began getting back into the car and apologizing to Ulin. Steinkamp directed Rincon away from the Malibu, telling her, “Back here, back here . . . not putting up with this shit.” (Exh. B 00:01:30). Steinkamp led Rincon to Johnson’s patrol car, setting Rincon’s backpack on top of the hood. Rincon told him she didn’t do anything wrong, that she was just getting a ride home and didn’t even know these people. Steinkamp informed Rincon that she was being detained and handcuffed her hands behind her back. (Exh. B 00:01:30). Rincon swore. Steinkamp directed the other officers to put everyone in handcuffs. They complied. (Exh. B 00:01:49).

Melton was still handcuffed in the rear of the patrol vehicle. Martinez, Villa Magana, Meadows, and Rincon were now all cuffed with hands behind their backs by the front bumper of Johnson's patrol car, several feet from the Malibu. (Exh. B 00:01:53).

Steinkamp took a look in the driver's side of the Malibu and called out to the other officers, "You got dope right here in the door!" (Exh. B 00:02:20). There were two baggies of what was later determined to be methamphetamine near the driver's door handle. (Minutes, p.1) (Conf. App. p. 4). Johnson returned to the Malibu to see for himself, then muttered, "Can of worms," as he walked back to his patrol car. (Exh. A 00:08:26).

Minnehan found a baggie of 3.45 grams of marijuana and a baggie of .21 grams of methamphetamine in the front pocket of Rincon's backpack. (Exh. B 00:02:50) (Minutes, p.2; Additional Minutes 8/24/20, p.3) (Conf. App. pp. 5, 12). A female officer was called to the scene to pat down Rincon and

Martinez; she found nothing. (Exh. B 00:02:45; Exh. B 00:12:05).

During a search of the area between the car and the apartment building, Officer Ulin found a Family Dollar bag containing three individual baggies of methamphetamine weighing approximately 27 grams each under a tree not far from the building where Melton had been seen initially. (Exh. B 00:11:45; Exh. B 00:15:40) (Additional Minutes 8/24/20, p.3) (Conf. App. p. 12). After Johnson confirmed the car was stolen through LENCIR, he Mirandized and spoke with each occupant of the vehicle individually. (Exh. A 00:15:40).

Melton denied knowledge of the methamphetamine in the car and under the tree, and that the vehicle was stolen. He had rented the car from an older woman at Oakridge Terrace, he said. Regarding the meth in the vehicle, Melton said, "I'm sure when you pulled up, they threw everything on my side." He also denied he was in the car, saying that officers never saw him in the car. (Exh. A 00:26:16) (Minutes, p.3) (Conf.

App. p. 6). The other occupants all identified Melton as the driver that night. (Exh. A 00:41:00; Exh. A 00:48:00; Exh. A 00:56:00; Exh. A 01:02:35) (Minutes, pp.2-3) (Conf. App. pp. 5-6). The Malibu had to be impounded because the owner couldn't be located. (Minutes, p.3) (Conf. App. p. 6).

Melton was charged with possession with intent, in addition to theft for the stolen vehicle.¹ (Information) (App. pp. 10-12). He also had outstanding warrants for his arrest for a parole violation and driving under suspension. (Exh. A 00:09:50).

Villa Magana and Martinez said they were friends and had come to Des Moines from Marshalltown to have a fun night. Melton was planning to take them back to Marshalltown. They denied knowledge of the drugs or that the vehicle was stolen. (Exh. A 00:48:00; Exh. A 00:56:00) (Minutes, p.2) (Conf. App. p. 5). Villa Magana had a warrant for his arrest. (Minutes, p.2) (Conf. App. p. 5).

¹ Melton was charged with Theft in the Second Degree by separate trial information in Polk County FECR334415.

Martinez said she and Villa Magana were already in the car when Melton picked up Rincon and Meadows. She didn't know Rincon or Meadows. (Exh. A 01:00:00) (Minutes, p.2) (Conf. App. p. 5). The driver was drinking out of the bottle. (Exh. A 01:01:00). Martinez was not charged with anything in connection with the night's events. (Minutes, p.2) (Conf. App. p. 5).

Meadows said he'd gotten picked up at Kum & Go and was just getting a ride. He only knew the driver. (Exh. A 00:41:00) (Minutes, pp.2-3) (Conf. App. pp. 5-6). He denied being in possession of drugs. (Exh. A 00:42:30). A baggie of methamphetamine was found on the rear passenger floorboard, near where Meadows' foot would've been. He was charged with possession of a controlled substance. (Information) (App. pp. 10-12) (Minutes, pp.2-3) (Conf. App. pp. 5-6).

Rincon said she'd gone to see her sister that night. She needed a ride home to get up for work in the morning. Her

sister said her friend “Shawn” could give Rincon a ride.

Rincon understood the driver’s name to be “Shawn.” He was going to drop her off at her house before taking the others to Marshalltown. (Exh. A 01:02:35) (Minutes, p.2) (Conf. App. p. 5). She admitted she had done meth before but had been clean except for using weed. She had met the driver twice, and knew that he sold drugs to her sister, but didn’t know what was going on tonight. (Exh. A 01:07:40). Rincon was arrested for possession of the marijuana and methamphetamine found in her backpack. (Exh. A 01:12:30) (Information) (App. pp. 10-12).

ARGUMENT

I. The State must provide an exception to the warrant requirement to justify the warrantless search of an individual's effects. Rincon was the passenger in a vehicle who exited with her backpack when the driver was detained because the vehicle was stolen. Officers observed drugs and an open container in plain view on the driver's side. Do plain view, search incident to arrest, or the automobile exception justify the warrantless search of Rincon's backpack?

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