IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 20-1300

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

MYRANDA MARIE RINCON,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HON. SAMANTHA GRONEWALD, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN P. SARCONI
Polk County Attorney

JOE CRISP
Assistant Polk County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. **The district court did not err in granting the motion to reconsider and denying Rincon’s motion to suppress.**

Preservation of Error

Error is preserved for the State to defend this ruling on the actual grounds for the ruling, plus any grounds for the same result that were urged below. *See DeVoss v. State*, 648 N.W.2d 56, 60–63 (Iowa 2002). Rincon argues that error is not preserved for the State to defend the ruling on any grounds that were raised in its resistance, rejected in the original ruling that granted the motion to suppress, and then not renewed in its motion to reconsider. *See* Def’s Br. at 30. That is incorrect. The State prevailed in its motion to reconsider, and “a successful party need not cross-appeal to preserve error on a ground urged but ignored or rejected in trial court.” *See Johnston Equip. Corp. of Iowa v. Indus. Indem.*, 489 N.W.2d 13, 16 (Iowa 1992). If it were proper to parse suppression and reconsideration into separate issues for error-preservation purposes, then Rincon would only be able to challenge the ruling on the motion to reconsider with the arguments she raised at that hearing about *Sanders*—which are not in her brief (because *Sanders* was overruled in 1991). *See* MotionTr. 6:14–10:10; *cf. Acevedo*, 500 U.S. at 570–80. The more sensible approach is to

treat the arguments that were raised before the first ruling on the motion to suppress as preserved for either side to raise on appeal. *Accord State v. Enriquez*, No. 09–1460, 2011 WL 1584114, at *2–4 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 27, 2011) (considering challenges to a ruling in a similar procedural posture, without distinguishing between original motion to suppress and motion to reconsider for error preservation).

Additionally, because the State is defending a ruling that found that evidence was admissible, it may defend the ruling on any basis that appears in the record, whether or not it was urged below. The Iowa Supreme Court explained this exception in *DeVoss v. State*:

Notwithstanding our error preservation requirement, we have consistently applied an exception to it. That exception applies to evidentiary rulings, whether the error claimed involved rulings admitting evidence or not admitting evidence. . . . Perhaps, one reason for the exception is the realization that on retrial the error could easily be corrected. So for judicial economy purposes and to advance finality, we ignore the error preservation requirement.

DeVoss, 648 N.W.2d at 62 (citing *Aller v. Rodgers Mach. Mfg. Co.*, 268 N.W.2d 830, 840 (Iowa 1978), and *State v. Hinkle*, 229 N.W.2d 744, 748 (Iowa 1975)). Sometimes, defendants suggest that this does not apply to rulings on motions to suppress. But that is incorrect. In *State v. Terry*, the Iowa Supreme Court affirmed a ruling that denied a motion to suppress evidence. The district court’s ruling was on the

merits of the motion, but the Iowa Supreme Court affirmed without reaching the merits because the motion to suppress was untimely:

Even though the State did not resist the motion in the district court as untimely and unexcused for good cause, we will uphold the ruling on the admissibility of the evidence on this or any other ground appearing in the record, whether urged or not.

State v. Terry, 569 N.W.2d 364, 368 (Iowa 1997) (citing *State v. McCowen*, 297 N.W.2d 226, 227–28 (Iowa 1980)); *see also State v. Gaskins*, 866 N.W.2d 1, 44 (Iowa 2015) (Waterman, J., dissenting) (“A motion to suppress on constitutional grounds is a challenge to the admissibility of evidence seized from a defendant. Therefore, we may affirm the district court’s suppression ruling on any ground appearing in the record, whether urged by the parties or not.”);¹ *accord State v. Boll*, No. 19–0487, 2020 WL 4200838, at *2 n.2; *State v. Tostenson*, No. 19–0014, 2019 WL 5063333, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 9, 2019);

¹ Of course, “the rule described in *DeVoss* is discretionary, and [this Court] must be careful not to exercise [its] discretion to decide an issue concerning the admissibility of evidence on an alternative ground when the parties have not had an opportunity to properly develop or challenge the foundation for the evidence.” *See State v. Smith*, 876 N.W.2d 180, 184 (Iowa 2016). That explains the majority’s decision not to reach the automobile exception in *Gaskins*, where the testimony at the hearing on the motion to suppress was focused on exploring the SITA issue. *See Gaskins*, 866 N.W.2d at 4 & n.3. But in this case, the unedited video footage in the record provides a fairly comprehensive accounting of events.

State v. Rave, No. 09–0415, 2009 WL 3381520, at *2–3 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 21, 2009). So, it is improper to reverse a ruling on the basis of an argument that was never made below, and it is risky to affirm on the basis that is not fully developed in the record—but it is still proper to affirm a ruling on a motion to suppress on grounds that were not urged below, as long as factual support for that basis to affirm is clear upon an examination of a sufficiently developed record. Moreover, to affirm a ruling on a motion to suppress, an appellate court may even rely on parts of the factual record that were developed *at trial*—which logically cannot be urged as grounds for a pretrial ruling. *See State v. Schubert*, 346 N.W.2d 30, 33 (Iowa 1984) (“In determining whether the court erred in overruling a motion to suppress, we may consider, in order to uphold a district court’s ruling, not only the evidence in the hearing on the motion to suppress but also the later trial evidence.”); *accord United States v. Carroll*, 267 U.S. 132, 162 (1925) (holding it was “immaterial” whether defendants were correct that the evidence at the pretrial motion stage “was much less than that shown on the trial” because the trial record established that the search was constitutional, “so no right of the defendants was infringed” by denial of that motion and their convictions “should not be set aside on such a ground”).

Some Iowa opinions have intimated that *Terry* may have been implicitly overruled by *DeVoss*. For example, *Tubbs* is sometimes cited as though it “reject[ed] consideration of the State’s timeliness objection due to its failure to raise the issue at the district court level.” *See State v. Newton*, 929 N.W.2d 250, 254 (Iowa 2019) (citing *State v. Tubbs*, 690 N.W.2d 911, 914 (Iowa 2005)). But that is inaccurate. In *Tubbs*, the State did not argue that the court should affirm on that basis. *See Tubbs*, 690 N.W.2d at 914 (explaining that the State “does not assert a timeliness objection” and only defended the ruling on the merits). That waived the argument for the purposes of the appeal—which was a concession that the State made because it did not notice that *DeVoss* would allow it to defend the evidentiary ruling on that basis. *See id.*

Some Iowa courts have read *DeVoss* to bar them from affirming a ruling on the basis of the *actual grounds* for the ruling below, if it was not urged by the prevailing party before that ruling issued. *See, e.g., State v. Ruhs*, 885 N.W.2d 822, 824–26 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016). That illustrates the fundamental misunderstanding. *DeVoss* is not about penalizing advocates who fail to make particular arguments, treating advocacy as some kind of sport. Rather, *DeVoss* intends to promote *fairness* to parties and to the lower court. It is fair to affirm

on the basis for the actual ruling below—that is never an “ambush.” *See DeVoss*, 648 N.W.2d at 63. And even an “ambush” that offers a new reason to affirm is not unfair when “the error claimed involve[s] rulings admitting evidence.” *See id.* at 62–63. It is not unfair because it still requires a factual record that is developed enough to support the alternative grounds for the evidentiary ruling. That alleviates any potential unfairness by ensuring that the parties had a fair opportunity to notice and litigate that alternative route to the same result. *See Smith*, 876 N.W.2d at 184. Any remaining unfairness is outweighed by interests in avoiding pointlessly cumulative proceedings, because “there is no point in reversing a conviction when the evidence will be admissible at retrial in any event.” *See State v. Dessinger*, No. 18–2116, 2021 WL 1584079, at *5 (Iowa Apr. 23, 2021). It would make no sense to apply that rationale to pretrial rulings on admissibility of evidence, while declining to apply it to rulings on motions to suppress evidence that determine “the admissibility of evidence seized from a defendant.” *See Rave*, 2009 WL 3381520, at *3; *accord Boll*, 2020 WL 4200838, at *2 n.2. As long as the alternative basis for admitting the evidence is apparent from a fully developed record, justice is served by affirming on those grounds—even if they were not raised or considered below.

The clearest illustration of this concept may be *State v. Vincik*, which involved physical evidence that was found after Vincik called 911 and summoned officers into his home. The Iowa Supreme Court noted that, in reviewing the ruling on the motion to suppress, it could consider “the evidence introduced at trial”—even though it was not in the record when the district court ruled on the motion to suppress. *See State v. Vincik*, 436 N.W.2d 350, 352–53 (Iowa 1989) (citing *Schubert*, 346 N.W.2d at 33). Some of the items were in plain view, which was a basis for the ruling below. But other items were not in plain view, and they had been admitted anyway. Even so, *Vincik* affirmed the ruling that permitted admission of that evidence, on a different basis:

. . . Although [the gun and T-shirt] were not in plain view and were therefore improperly seized, we are convinced the record clearly demonstrates they would inevitably have been discovered during the removal of Inez’s body from the bed. . . . It does not matter that the district court did not rely on this ground when admitting the gun and t-shirt, for its ruling will be upheld if sustainable on any grounds appearing in the record.

See id. at 354 (citing *State v. Jespersen*, 360 N.W.2d 804, 806 (Iowa 1985)). It was not necessary to point to a place in the record where the State had argued that basis for admission—the developed record had retroactively established that the evidentiary ruling was *correct*, and it was not unfair to Vincik to recognize that as a basis to affirm.

The upshot of this error-preservation section is: Rincon may raise any grounds for suppression that were necessarily considered and rejected by the pair of rulings below. *See Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012). And because this is a challenge to the ruling that evidence that was seized from Rincon was admissible, this Court may affirm on any basis that is apparent and fully developed in the record on appeal, even if it was not urged below. *See DeVoss*, 648 N.W.2d at 62; *Terry*, 569 N.W.2d at 368; *Vincik*, 436 N.W.2d at 354.

Standard of Review

“When a defendant challenges a district court’s denial of a motion to suppress based upon the deprivation of a state or federal constitutional right, [the] standard of review is de novo.” *See State v. Coffman*, 914 N.W.2d 240, 244 (Iowa 2018) (quoting *State v. Storm*, 898 N.W.2d 140, 144 (Iowa 2017)).

Merits

Rincon is right that a passenger in a vehicle will typically have standing to challenge a search of their own backpack, and to assert a privacy interest in its contents. But this Court should still affirm the ruling that denied her motion to suppress the marijuana recovered from her backpack, for two reasons—each independently sufficient.

- A. At the very least, officers could detain Rincon and move her—and her backpack—out of the vehicle. When they did, her marijuana was in plain view, which meant that officers could seize it.**

Rincon primarily challenges *State v. Eubanks*—her goal is to establish a new rule that having probable cause to search a vehicle for evidence or contraband under the automobile exception does not let officers search a container that belongs to a passenger, if the passenger takes that container out of the vehicle at some point after the officers have probable cause for the search. *See* Def’s Br. at 17–18 and 79–92. But even if Rincon could redraw the scope of the automobile exception, this baggie of marijuana would remain admissible because it was in plain view, hanging out of her backpack, while she was detained. *See* Def’s Ex. B, 1:50–2:02. That detention was lawful. Once the officers saw that marijuana, they could seize it. Even if the search of the rest of the backpack was invalid, this particular seizure was constitutional.

To detain Rincon and the other passengers, officers only needed reasonable suspicion. *See, e.g., State v. Mitchell*, 498 N.W.2d 691, 693 (Iowa 1993) (citing *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 30 (1968)). The officers had probable cause to believe the vehicle was stolen; that means they could seize it, and they could also search it for evidence of that theft (and none of the occupants had standing to challenge that search).

See State v. Halliburton, 539 N.W.2d 339, 342–43 (Iowa 1995) (citing *Rakas v. Illinois*, 439 U.S. 128, 150 (1978)). Seizing and searching the vehicle would require the passengers to get out. Officers could also detain the passengers to investigate reasonable suspicions that the passengers were involved in ongoing criminal activity. *See, e.g., Maryland v. Wilson*, 519 U.S. 408, 414–15 (1997).

Reasonable suspicion is a lower standard than probable cause. *See State v. Struve*, 956 N.W.2d 90, 98 (Iowa 2021) (“[T]he officer’s suspicion need not be infallible or even rise to a fifty-fifty chance the individual is engaged in criminal activity to be reasonable.”); *accord State v. Kreps*, 650 N.W.2d 636, 641–43 (Iowa 2002). Any of these passengers could have been accomplices to the vehicle theft, or the open container offense (or if they were telling a half-truth when they said that the Hennessey belonged to the driver, accomplices to OWI). The contemporaneous discovery of the baggies of methamphetamine in the driver-side door also gave the officers reasons to believe that more methamphetamine would be concealed in locations that were within reach of the passengers, who would have had time to hide any contraband within their reach as officers approached the car. *See, e.g., Maryland v. Pringle*, 540 U.S. 366, 373 (2003) (quoting *Wyoming v.*

Houghton, 526 U.S. 295, 526 U.S. 295, 304–05 (1999)) (explaining that passengers “will often be engaged in a common enterprise with the driver, and have the same interest in concealing the fruits of the evidence of their wrongdoing”); accord *Larocca v. State*, 883 A.2d 986, 998–99 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2005), partially overruled on other grounds by *Grimm v. State*, 135 A.2d 844 (Md. 2016)) (noting “the reasonableness, and hence permissibility, of an inference that people who know each other and are traveling in a car in circumstances indicating drug using or selling activity are operating together, and thus are sharing knowledge of the essentials of their operation”). So all of the passengers could be temporarily detained to investigate the reasonable suspicion of their involvement in criminal activity, arising from their presence in the stolen vehicle where open containers and methamphetamine had already been found.²

While detaining the passengers, officers could temporarily seize and detain Rincon’s backpack—it was within Rincon’s reach as the officers approached, and it could contain the items that were objects

² During that detention, officers could also take Rincon by the arm “as a nonthreatening gesture or benign means of ushering [her] to a specific location” during that investigative detention. See *State v. DeWitt*, 811 N.W.2d 460, 472 (Iowa 2012).

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